THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000995

Amber Geohaghan

Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce and
South Carolina Department of Social Services,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adam Protheroe
S.C. APPLESEED LEGAL JUSTICE CENTER
P.O. Box 7187
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-1113
S.C. Bar No. 78442

Attorney for Appellant Amber Geohaghan

RECEIVED
FEB 13 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT WHETHER APPELLANT HAD GOOD CAUSE TO RESIGN WAS A QUESTION OF FACT SUBJECT TO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE REVIEW?**
- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DEPARTMENT’S FINDING THAT APPELLANT RESIGNED WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE WHERE THAT FINDING WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was an employee of the South Carolina Department of Social Services (“DSS”) from March 4, 2013 until March 16, 2018, most recently as a senior child welfare specialist. R. p. 11. Appellant resigned her position effective March 16, 2018 due to concerns for her safety after an incident in which a client became hostile and threatened Appellant. R. pp. 10, 16. This action was commenced on March 19, 2018 when Appellant applied for unemployment benefits with the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (“the Department”). The Department’s Claims Adjudicator determined that Appellant was ineligible for benefits effective March 18, 2018 because she resigned voluntarily and without good cause. R. p. 19. Appellant timely appealed the claims adjudicator’s decision to the Department’s Appeal Tribunal which held a telephone hearing on June 8, 2018. R. p. 102. The Appeal Tribunal affirmed the Claims Adjudicator in a decision mailed July 6, 2018. R. p. 21. Appellant timely appealed to the

Department's Appellate Panel, which affirmed the Appeal Tribunal in a decision mailed August 29, 2018. R. p. 24.

On September 27, 2019, Appellant timely petitioned the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") for judicial review of the Department's decision. R. p. 27. The ALC affirmed the Department without oral argument by decision filed March 7, 2019. R. p. 2. On March 20, 2019, Appellant filed a motion for rehearing. R. p. 64. The ALC denied Appellant's motion by order filed May 16, 2019 and filed an Amended Order that same day. R. pp. 9, 11.

On June 18, 2019, Appellant timely appealed to this Court. R. p. 72. Appellant contends that the ALC erred in two respects. First, Appellant contends that the ALC erred treating the question of whether Appellant had good cause to resign as a question of fact subject to substantial evidence review. Second, Appellant contends that the ALC erred in affirming the Department's decision that she is indefinitely disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits because that finding is not supported by substantial evidence in the record.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act provides that the Court of Appeals may affirm the decision of an administrative law judge or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;

(d) affected by other error of law;

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (2019).

An appellate court “will correct the decision of the ALC if it is affected by an error of law, and questions of law are reviewed de novo.” Sierra Club v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 426 S.C. 236, 247, 826 S.E.2d 595, 601 (2019) (*quoting* S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Blue Moon of Newberry, Inc., 397 S.C. 256, 260, 725 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2012)). Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which an appellate court is free to decide without any deference to the court below. CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011). An appellate court may also overturn a decision of the ALC if it is unsupported by substantial evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(e) (2019). “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, but evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the agency reached.” Anderson v. Baptist Med. Ctr., 343 S.C. 487, 492, 541 S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001).

FACTS

Appellant Amber Geohaghan began working for DSS in March of 2013. Her most recent position was as a senior child welfare specialist. R. p. 11. On January 26, 2018, Appellant spoke by phone with one of her clients. During that conversation the client, apparently unhappy that her child had been placed with her sibling and not in foster care, threatened to go to her sibling’s

house with a gun and remove her child. R. pp. 117:14-16, 119:10-11. Appellant was able to defuse the situation and secure the client's agreement not to follow through with her threat with the promise of an emergency family meeting. R. pp. 117:30 – 118:5.

That emergency family meeting was held on January 31, 2018. During that meeting, the client shouted profanity at Appellant, said she wanted a different case worker, and told Appellant that she should be glad the client did not have a gun. R. p. 11. Appellant's direct supervisor, performance coach, HR liaison, and security were all present at or around the time the client threatened Appellant. In response to the client's threat, Appellant's supervisor and security removed the client from the building. R. pp. 118:18-20; 141:5-18.

Immediately after the January 31st incident, the DSS Administrative Assistant/HR liaison, Cynthia Brown, indicated that she would be notifying the DSS county director of the incident and would request that anyone who witnessed the incident provide her with a written statement. R. pp. 119:18-26, 141:21-23. In addition, because the incident involved a threat to an employee, the HR liaison reported the incident to DSS' central HR employer relations unit. In response to the HR liaison's report, the central HR employer relations unit provided the HR liaison with a contact person. Transcript pp. 40:26 – 41:3.

The week following the incident, Appellant met with her immediate supervisor and expressed her concerns about continuing to handle the client's case. R. p. 120:16-20. Appellant indicated that she did not feel safe continuing to work with that client and suggested that, since the client had requested a new caseworker, it may not be in the best interest of the case that she continue to serve as that client's caseworker. R. p. 120:19-23. Appellant offered to take another

case or even two more cases in exchange. R. p. 121:11-14. Appellant's supervisor indicated that the client was "all bark and no bite" but said that she would see what she could do about transferring the case. R. p. 121:3-5 and 19-20. The record indicates that Appellant's supervisor sought to transfer the client's case to a caseworker who had worked with that client before, however, that caseworker refused to accept the case. R. p. 121:21-30. The record contains no evidence that DSS made any further effort to transfer that client's case or offer Appellant additional support in continuing to handle that client's case if it could not be transferred. Likewise, the record contains no evidence that DSS made any effort to ensure Appellant's safety. Critically, the Appellate Tribunal found that Appellant's concerns for her safety were justified. R. p. 22. Neither the Appellate Panel nor the ALC took issue with this finding. R. pp. 24, 11.

On February 12, 2018, almost two weeks after the incident, Appellant sent an e-mail to the DSS HR liaison regarding the incident. R. p. 178. In this e-mail, Appellant again indicated that she did not feel that it was safe for her to have contact with the client in the client's home or face to face and again recommended that a new case manager be assigned. *Id.* There is no evidence that DSS took any action in response to Appellant's email. In fact, between the time that Appellant was threatened and the time she resigned, there is no evidence that DSS took any action in response to the threat other than to solicit statements from those who had witnessed it, and make one failed attempt to transfer the case to another caseworker. R. pp. 141:20 – 142:25 and 121:21-30. DSS regional director, Nicole Foulks, testified that some sort of plan should have been put in place to address the threat to Appellant's safety, but admitted that she had no knowledge that any such plan was developed and that it was Appellant's supervisor's

responsibility to put such a plan in place. R. pp. 156:1-6, 161:18. There is no evidence in the record that such a plan was ever developed.

On March 2, 2018, with DSS having taken no further action in response to the January 31st incident or in response to Appellant's multiple requests for action, Appellant, due to concerns for her safety, submitted her letter of resignation on March 2, 2018 effective March 16, 2018. R. p. 12. In the beginning of April 2018, more than two months after Appellant was threatened and approximately one month after she submitted her letter of resignation, the HR liaison forwarded the documentation she had collected regarding the incident to what she termed "critical response" and sent a "no-trespassing" letter to the client who threatened Appellant. R. p. 142:7-11 and 22-25.

On March 19, 2018, shortly after the effective date of her resignation, Appellant applied for unemployment benefits with the Department. R. p. 12. The Department's Claims Adjudicator initially determined Appellant to be ineligible for benefits effective March 18, 2018 finding that she left her most recent bona fide employer because she was dissatisfied with her work environment and that her resignation was voluntary and without good cause. R. p. 19. Appellant timely appealed the Claims Adjudicator's decision to the Department's Appeal Tribunal which held a telephone hearing on June 8, 2018. R. p. 102. By decision mailed July 6, 2018, the Appeal Tribunal affirmed the Claims Adjudicator's decision disqualifying Appellant from receiving benefits indefinitely effective March 18, 2018. R. p. 21. Appellant timely appealed the Appeal Tribunal's decision to the Department's Appellate Panel, which affirmed the Appeal Tribunal. R. p. 24.

Appellant then timely petitioned the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) for judicial review of the Appellate Tribunal’s decision. R. p. 27. After receiving briefs from the parties, and without oral argument, the ALC issued an order affirming the Appellate Panel’s decision disqualifying Appellant. R. p. 2. Appellant timely moved for rehearing on two grounds. First, Appellant contended that the ALC failed to rule on her argument that she had good cause to resign as a matter of law and applied the incorrect standard of review. Second, Appellant argued that the ALC improperly substituted its judgment for that of the Department on questions of fact. R. p. 64. The Administrative Law Court denied Appellant’s motion, but issued an amended order affirming the Appellate Panel, holding that whether Appellant had good cause to resign was a question of fact subject to substantial evidence review, and issuing a revised finding of fact. R. pp. 9, 11. This appeal timely followed. R. p. 72.

ARGUMENTS

Appellant’s entitlement to unemployment benefits turns on whether she had good cause to resign her position with DSS. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) (2019). The ALC affirmed the Department’s finding that she resigned voluntarily without good cause and that, as a result, she was indefinitely disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits. In so holding, the ALC erred in two respects. First, the ALC erred in holding that the question of whether Appellant had good cause to resign was entirely a question of fact that could not be disturbed on appeal if it was supported by substantial evidence. Second, the ALC erred in affirming the Department’s finding that Appellant resigned without good cause where that finding was not supported by substantial evidence. For these reasons, the ALC’s finding that Appellant is indefinitely disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits should be reversed. In the alternative, this case should be

remanded for further proceedings applying the correct *de novo* standard of review on the question of whether Appellant had good cause to resign.

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT WHETHER APPELLANT HAD GOOD CAUSE TO RESIGN WAS A QUESTION OF FACT SUBJECT TO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE REVIEW.

An employee is ineligible for unemployment benefits if they left work voluntarily and without good cause. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1). At the heart of this case is the meaning of this statute which, “[a]s social legislation . . . should be construed to provide protection to as many employees as possible.” Alton Newton Evangelistic Asso. v. S.C. Emp’t Sec. Com., 284 S.C. 302, 305, 326 S.E.2d 165, 167 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing Stone Mfg. v. S. C. Emp’t Sec. Com., 219 S.C. 239, 64 S.E.2d 644 (1951)). Key in this inquiry is whether the meaning of the term “good cause” in this statute is a question of law or one of fact. If this is a question of law, it receives *de novo* review on appeal. Sierra Club, 426 S.C. 236 (holding that, on appeal from an order of the ALC, questions of law are reviewed *de novo*). If good cause is a question of fact, it is subject to a significantly more deferential substantial evidence standard of review. Rodney v. Michelin Tire Corp., 320 S.C. 515, 519, 466 S.E.2d 357, 359 (1996) (“A court may not substitute its judgment for that of an agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact unless the agency's findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.”) Here, the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) held that the meaning of the term “good cause” in S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) was a question of fact and affirmed the

Department's finding that Appellant resigned without good cause employing the deferential substantial evidence standard of review. R. pp. 10, 16.

The ALC erred in these findings for three reasons. First, binding precedent holds that the meaning of the term "good cause" in the predecessor statute to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) is a question of law and, as a result, is subject to a *de novo* standard of review. Second, even if the meaning of that term has been defined by case law such that it has become a question of fact requiring no legal judgment, this is true only in a limited context not applicable to the instant case. Finally, contrary to the ALC's holding, South Carolina appellate courts have not consistently treated the meaning of good cause as a question of fact. Instead, they have treated only two related issues as questions of fact – first, whether an employee's resignation was voluntary and, second, whether the employee's cause for resignation was attributable to or connected with their employment. Neither of these issues is implicated here. Because the ALC erred in these respects, its decision should be reversed.

a. Binding Precedent Holds that the Meaning of the term Good Cause in S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) is a Question of Law.

In Stone Mfg. Co. v. S. C. Emp't Sec. Com., 219 S.C. 239, 64 S.E. 2d 644 (1951), the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed whether an employee who resigned voluntarily, and for reasons unconnected with her employment, did so with good cause as that term was used in Section 5 (a) of the South Carolina Unemployment Compensation Law Section 7035-85 (a), Code of 1942, the predecessor to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1). There, the employee left her employment to be with her husband after his transfer during military service. Turning to the

meaning of “good cause”, the Stone Court held “[w]e think the words ‘good cause’ as used in the context contemplate, ordinarily at least, a cause attributable to or connected with claimant’s employment.” Stone, 219 S.C. at 247, 64 S.E.2d at 647 (1951). Applying this understanding of good cause, the court held that the employee was not entitled to benefits because, though her decision was readily understandable and not to be condemned, her reason for resigning was purely personal and not attributable to or connected with her employment. Stone, 219 S.C. at 247, 64 S.E.2d at 647 (1951) (citing Sun Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 358 Pa. 224, 56 A.2d 254 (1948)).

It is significant that the Stone Court, in seeking to determine the meaning of good cause, immediately resorted “the cardinal rule of statutory construction”, that is, “determining and giving effect to the intent of the legislature.” Stone, 219 S.C. at 244, 64 S.E.2d at 645 (1951); Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget & Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 5, 437 S.E.2d 6, 8 (1993) (“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature.”). Statutory construction is a question of law. *See e.g.* Hopper v. Terry Hunt Constr., 373 S.C. 475, 479, 646 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct. App. 2007). Thus, in treating the meaning of good cause as a question of statutory construction, the Stone court implicitly held that it was a question of law. As a result, the ALC erred when it held otherwise.

**b. Appellate Decisions have not Defined Good Cause such that it has
Become a Question of Fact for the Purposes of the Instant Case.**

The ALC, citing Stone, held that “[t]he meaning of good cause, as contemplated in [S.C. Code Ann.] § 41-35-120(1), has already been established” and that, as a result, the Department

“was solely tasked with making factual findings regarding the existence of good cause.” R. p. 9. Yet, Stone offers no guidance as to the meaning of good cause in the instant case because neither the Department nor the ALC found that Appellant resigned for reasons which were purely personal or entirely unrelated to her employment. Indeed, if Stone establishes the meaning of good cause for the purposes of this case as the ALC held, then Appellant is plainly entitled to benefits because her reason for resigning was attributable to or connected with her employment. The question here is not the one that Stone answered, that is, whether Appellant’s reason for resigning was connected with her employment. The question here is whether the legislature intended the meaning of good cause in S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) to include a justified fear for one’s safety that is connected with one’s employment. Thus, to the extent that Stone may have transformed the meaning of good cause from a question of law into one of fact by defining the term in light of legislative intent, as the ALC implicitly held, it cannot have done so in the context of this case because Stone did not answer the question presented here.

c. South Carolina Appellate Courts have not Treated Whether an Employee has Good Cause to Resign as a Question of Fact.

In the instant case, the ALC relied on Sviland v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Com., 300 S.C. 305, 387 S.E.2d 688 (Ct. App. 1989), in holding that “South Carolina Appellate Courts have consistently treated the question of whether an employee has good cause to voluntarily separate from employment as an issue of fact.” R. pp. 9-10. The employee in Sviland resigned based on alleged “unethical business practices” by her employer and thereafter sought unemployment benefits. Sviland, 300 S.C. at 306, 387 S.E.2d at 688. The Employment Security Commission,

predecessor to the Department, disqualified her from receiving benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) finding that she “quit her employment for personal reasons rather than reasons that could be attributed to the employer.” Sviland, 300 S.C. at 307, 387 S.E.2d at 689. The employee then petitioned the circuit court for review of the Commission’s decision and the circuit court reversed finding that “it was clearly erroneous in light of this reliable, probative and substantial evidence for the [Commission] to hold that [Sviland] voluntarily separated from her employment with the [employer] and did so without good cause.” Sviland, 300 S.C. at 307-08, 387 S.E.2d at 689.

The Commission appealed and the Court of Appeals reversed holding that the Commission’s finding was supported by substantial evidence. Sviland, 300 S.C. at 308, 387 S.E.2d at 689. In so holding, the Sviland Court did indeed apply the substantial evidence standard of review applicable to findings of fact. In this context, the application of the substantial evidence standard of review was correct for two reasons, neither of which is applicable to the instant case.

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