THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE  
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 18-ALJ-22-0351-AP

Appellate Case No. 2019-000995

**RECEIVED**

FEB 12 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Amber Geohaghan,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment  
and Workforce and South Carolina Department of  
Social Services,

Respondent(s).

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SOUTH CAROLINA  
DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AND WORKFORCE

Benjamin Cook (SC Bar # 102216)  
SC Dept. of Employment and Workforce  
PO Box 8597  
Columbia, SC 29202  
Attorney for Respondent South Carolina  
Department of Employment and Workforce

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

Good cause means attributable to or connected with the employment. A claimant who terminates their employment voluntarily for good cause has the burden of proof on that issue. The claimant must show that the reason for voluntary termination must be real, substantial, and reasonable, and which would compel a reasonable person under similar circumstances to act in the same manner. For example, intentional harassment by a supervisor may constitute good cause to voluntarily leave employment. However, a claimant must take measures to resolve the problem before quitting, unless such measures would only be futile gesture. The claimant has the burden of proving a reasonable attempt to correct those conditions of employment which she now claims justified her leaving the employment, unless she can show that such an attempt would have been futile.

(R.pp.15-16) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). Appellant does not argue either of these interpretations of the law are somehow incorrect or contrary to the legislature's intent. In fact, she frames the issue much as the ALC and the Panel did:

An employee who leaves employment voluntarily and without good cause is disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits. To constitute good cause, the circumstances which lead an employee to leave the job must be such as would cause a reasonable person to leave. Good cause to leave must, generally, be attributable to or connected with claimant's employment.

Here, it is undisputed that the events which caused Appellant to resign were attributable to or connected with her employment at DSS. Therefore, the question presented in this case is whether Appellant's decision to resign in lieu of placing her life in jeopardy was reasonable.

(R.pp.35-36). Here, the Panel, the ALC, Appellant, and DEW are all in agreement on the law to be applied. Appellant takes issue with the application of the specific facts of this case, developed through testimony and evidence, to the statute. The application of the facts to the statute is a question of fact and, as such, the APA requires any reviewing court to grant deference to DEW's application of the testimony and evidence to § 41-35-120(1). *See Boggero* at 280 ("But whether the facts of a case were correctly applied to a statute is

a question of fact, subject to the substantial evidence standard . . . . Likewise, whether an agency correctly applied the facts of a case to a statute is a question of fact.”).

The issue presented mirrors the one this Court examined in *Sviland* under the substantial evidence standard of review. There, the context was a resignation over alleged unethical business practices. Here, the context is a resignation over a perceived lack of action by an employer to address safety concerns. The Court should decline Appellant’s invitation to analyze these two scenarios differently, i.e., finding the first to be a factual question and the second to be a legal one. The legislature empowered DEW to “find” whether an employee left work voluntarily without good cause. This is a factual inquiry, and consistent with that reality, this Court has consistently reviewed DEW’s findings under § 41-35-120(1) under the substantial evidence standard of review. The Court should do so in this case as well.

Appellant’s argument seems to be based on an improper conflation of two different things: 1) the meaning of “good cause” under § 41-35-120, and 2) the question of whether Appellant had “good cause” to voluntarily leave her employment. The determination of the meaning of “good cause” represents an interpretation of a statute and is, therefore, a matter of law; however, the question of whether Appellant, under the specific circumstances applicable to Appellant’s case, had good cause to voluntarily leave her employment represents an application of the facts of the case to the statute and is, therefore, a question of fact. *See Boggero* at 280. Appellant incorrectly states “the [ALC] held that the meaning of the term ‘good cause’ in S.C. Code Ann. 41-35-120(1) was a question of fact. . . .” (App. Br. 9). At no time has the ALC ever found that the interpretation of the meaning of “good

cause” is a question of fact. The ALC itself interprets the meaning of “good cause” in exhaustive fashion, as has been previously shown. (R.pp.15-16). The ALC found “the meaning of good cause, as contemplated in § 41-35-120(1), has already been established. The Panel, therefore, was solely tasked with making factual findings regarding the existence of good cause.” (R.p.9) (internal citations omitted).

Further, the ALC relied heavily on secondary sources in defining the term “good cause.” The ALC made extensive reference to 81 C.J.S. *Social Security and Public Welfare* § 417 in both the Amended Order and the Order Denying Motion for Rehearing. (R.pp.15-16; p.9). Additionally, the ALC referred to 76 Am. Jur. 2d *Unemployment Compensation* § 104 (updated Nov. 2018) as additional support for its interpretation of the meaning of “good cause.” (R.p.16). Yet, no mention is made of these sources by Appellant. Appellant does not even cite them in her Table of Authorities. Appellant goes so far as to omit the sources when citing a portion of the ALC Order. Appellant states:

The ALC, citing *Stone*, held that “[t]he meaning of good cause, as contemplated in [S.C. Code Ann.] § 41-35-120(1), has already been established” and that, as a result, the Department “was solely tasked with making factual findings regarding the existence of good cause.” Order Denying Motion for Rehearing, p.1. . .

(App. Br. p.11). Appellant then goes on to argue how *Stone* does not cover the instant case because the issue in *Stone* was limited to whether the reason for the separation was connected to the claimant’s employment. However, in support of the cited passage, the ALC does not merely cite *Stone*. The Order also cites C.J.S.:

The meaning of good cause, as contemplated in § 41-35-120(1), has already been established. *See Stone Mfg. Co. v. S.C. Employment Sec. Comm’n*, 219 S.C. 239, 247, 64 S.E.2d 644, 647 (1951); 81 C.J.S. *Social Security and*

*Public Welfare* § 417. The Panel, therefore, was solely tasked with making factual findings regarding the existence of good cause.

(R.p.16). The referenced section of C.J.S. is an exhaustive analysis of the meaning of the term “good cause” which the ALC cited for specific passages in its Amended Order. Appellant’s failure to even mention C.J.S. is confusing in light of the ALC’s heavy reliance on that source to conduct the very sort of statutory interpretation Appellant seems to be seeking.<sup>3</sup>

Both the Panel and the ALC properly interpreted the meaning of § 41-35-120(1) and also properly treated the application of the facts of Appellant’s case to the statute as a question of fact subject to the substantial evidence standard of review. As a result, the ALC committed no error in affirming the Panel’s decision and this Court should similarly affirm.

**II. The Panel’s decision disqualifying Appellant from receiving unemployment compensation because she voluntarily left work without good cause attributable to the employment is supported by substantial evidence and the ALC’s order affirming that decision is, therefore, correct as a matter of law.**

The Panel found: (1) Appellant voluntarily left her position, (2) Appellant’s job and job duties had not changed, (3) Appellant was in no danger of being discharged, (4) Appellant had no further interaction with the client following the incident on January 31, 2018, (5) Appellant waited a month before resigning, (6) Appellant failed to report her concerns up her chain of command prior to resigning, (7) DSS had other measures to put

---

<sup>3</sup> While Respondent freely acknowledges secondary sources are not binding precedent, the ALC’s use and citation of specific passages from those secondary sources make the cited passages the interpretation of the statute Appellant should be addressing. Respondent further notes that a published opinion from this Court formally adopting the generally accepted definition of “good cause” would be extremely helpful to both the bar and the bench in avoiding similar confusion in the future.

in place to address Appellant's concerns but Appellant failed to sufficiently seek them out, and (8) Appellant failed to show a reasonable person would have become totally unemployed rather than continue working. (R.p.78). The Panel therefore concluded she voluntarily left employment without good cause. *Id.* Substantial evidence supports the Panel's findings and conclusion, and thus, the ALC properly affirmed the Panel's decision.

It is undisputed Appellant left her job voluntarily. (R.p.115, lines 12-17; p.138, lines 12-14). There were no changes to the terms or conditions of Appellant's employment and she was not in imminent danger of being discharged.<sup>4</sup> (R.p.138, lines 3-18). In fact, Appellant specifically testified "If I would not have resigned, I still would have been employed. I wasn't terminated. I didn't have any issues with work at that time."<sup>5</sup> (R.p.138, lines 16-18). It is further undisputed Appellant's date of separation was March 16, 2018, well over a month after the incident. (R.p.114, lines 22-25).<sup>6</sup> Appellant admits interacting

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant disputes the relevance of the Panel's finding that the terms and conditions of Appellant's job had not changed. (App. Br. 22). Contrary to Appellant's argument that Appellant "was not required to demonstrate a change in the nature of her job or duties in order to show entitlement to benefits", neither the Panel nor the ALC ever indicated that was a requirement for eligibility. *Id.* This finding was merely one of many factual elements which contributed to the ultimate factual determination that Appellant voluntarily quit her position without good cause because it tended to show that Appellant lacked good cause for quitting, not because it was determinative alone.

<sup>5</sup> Appellant has asserted the Panel's finding that her job was not in jeopardy is irrelevant and unsupported by the record. (App. Br. 22). However, Appellant has clearly and unambiguously admitted she would still have been employed had she not resigned. Thus, the Panel's finding is supported by the record. The finding in question is relevant because it supports the finding she left her job voluntarily.

<sup>6</sup> Appellant argues the finding that Appellant waited a month to resign mischaracterizes the record. (App. Br. 23). However, the dates are undisputed and Appellant's protestations about what she was doing in the intervening time are irrelevant to the finding. The finding only serves to show that there was no further contact or incident between Appellant and the client for an extended period of time before her separation, as is shown by the actual

with difficult people and dealing with difficult issues up to and including violence had been part of her job since she started working for DSS in 2013. (R.p.116, lines 12-16; p.132, lines 13-27). Appellant also indicates there had been previous incidents which had been reported to and handled by the state human resources office. (R.p.135, line 26-p.136, line 3). Based on Appellant's own testimony, she had been assured by security personnel the client would not be allowed back in the building. (R.p.120, lines 8-15). No one from DSS directed Appellant to have any further contact with the client and Appellant's direct supervisor specifically told her not to "follow the client up." (R.p.123, lines 17-20; p.180). Appellant had not faced any disciplinary consequences for failing to maintain contact with her client and DSS would not have expected her to continue making monthly visits with the client due to the threat of violence. (R.p.148, lines 10-20). Appellant further admits she did not exhaust all reasonable remedies within DSS before resigning.<sup>7</sup> (R.p.134, line 16-p.136, line 13). "To be entitled to unemployment compensation benefits for voluntarily quitting a job for good cause, the claimant must have explored all viable options before making the decision to quit." 76 Am. Jur. 2d *Unemployment Compensation* § 104 (2018). Based on the security precautions put in place and the passage of six weeks without incident, Appellant had no reasonable fear for her own safety. The client was being excluded from the building and Appellant had been directed not to follow up with that

---

context of the finding: "The claimant was upset after receiving a threat; however, she had no further interaction with the client and she waited a month to resign." (R.p.78).

<sup>7</sup> Appellant argues the Panel's finding she did not report her fears up the chain of command is unsupported by the record. (App. Br. 23). However, Appellant admitted during her testimony she was aware of a contact at the state office, she should have reached out to the state office, and she did not do so. (R.p.135, line 15-p.136, line 13).

client. Appellant knew there were other options she could have pursued to preserve her position but chose to resign instead. A reasonable case worker, having dealt with difficult clients and issues of violence for approximately five years, would not have quit her job based on a single instance of threatening language. Further, Appellant failed to explore all viable options before making the decision to quit. For the foregoing reasons, the Panel's conclusion that Appellant's voluntary departure from her position was without good cause is supported by substantial evidence. As such, the ALC's order affirming the Panel's decision is correct as a matter of law and should be affirmed.

**III. The ALC did not err by stating facts which were present in the record on appeal but not present in the Panel's decision.**

Appellant asserts the ALC erred by making findings of fact which were unsupported by the record and which were not explicitly found by the Panel. The ALC, in its May 16, 2019, Amended Order, does not make independent findings of fact. The ALC's factual narrative and discussion merely serve to sum up the substantial evidence in the Record on Appeal, which supported the Panel's findings and decision. The Court concludes its Order by citing the Panel's findings and stating that the findings are supported by substantial evidence. (R.p.17). The ALC's discussion of the case illustrates how the information in the record ultimately supports the findings made by the Panel and also provides a coherent narrative for the events described by the information in the record. Ultimately, the ALC's decision properly relies on its analysis of whether the Panel's findings are supported by substantial evidence and not on its own application of the facts to the law. (R.p.17) ("Following a careful review of the entire record, I find there is substantial evidence in the

record to support the Panel's finding that Appellant is disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits because she voluntarily quit her employment without good cause, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1)").

Moreover, even if the ALC had relied upon different reasons from those relied upon by the Panel to affirm the Panel's decision, it was well within its rights to do so as the ALC noted. (R.p.10) ("When affirming an appealed decision, SCALC Rule 40 allows this Court to rely on any evidence in the record."). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has addressed this point of law in detail:

A respondent...may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court....The basis for respondent's additional sustaining grounds must appear in the record on appeal....The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment.

*I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419 (2000).<sup>8</sup> The ALC did not make findings which were unsupported by the record and did not improperly substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Panel and, therefore, the ALC's decision should be affirmed.

---

<sup>8</sup> Although *I'On* addresses SCACR Rule 220(c), that rule is virtually identical to the relevant portion of SCALC Rule 40. "The administrative law judge may affirm any ruling, order or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record...." SCALC Rule 40. "The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal." SCACR Rule 220(c).

## CONCLUSION

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